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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
---------------------------X 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
TO BE FILED UNDER SEAL 

- against-
AFFIDAVIT AND CO:MPLAINT IN 

KADERRAH DOYLE, SUPPORT OF APPLICATION 
CARA STEINBERG, FOR ARREST WARRANT 
MARINA GOLFO, 
EGO ONAGA, (18 U.S.C. §§ 666(a)(l)(A) and 1347(a)) 
L YUBOV BEYLINA, 
DANIELLE SCOPINICH, 18-MJ-927 
PATRICIA HAKIM, and 
ENOCK MENSAH, 

Defendants. 

---------------------------X 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK, SS: 

MELISSA GALICIA, being duly sworn, deposes and states that she is a Special 

Agent with the Federal Bureau oflnvestigation, duly appointed according to law and acting as 

such. 

In or about and between August 1, 2012 and April 30, 2018, both dates being 

approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the 

defendants KADERRAH DOYLE ("DOYLE"), CARA STEINBERG ("STEINBERG"), 

MARINA GOLFO ("GOLFO"), EGO ONAGA ("ONAGA"), L YUBOV BEYLINA 

("BEYLINA"), DANIELLE SCOPINICH ("SCOPINICH"), PATRICIA HAKIM 

("HAKIM") and ENOCK MENSAH ("MENSAH"), ( collectively, "the defendants"): (i) being 
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agents of an agency of a local government, to wit: the New York City Department of Health 

and Mental Hygiene (the "NYC DOHMH"), did knowingly and intentionally embezzle, steal, 

obtain by fraud, or otherwise without authority knowingly convert to the use of a person other 

than the rightful owner, property that is valued at $5,000 or more and is owned by, or is under 

the care, custody, or control of the NYC DOHMH, an organization that received benefits in 

excess of $10,000 under one or more Federal programs involving grants, contracts, subsidies, 

loans, guarantees, insurance and other forms of Federal assistance in one or more one-year 

periods; and (ii) did knowingly and willfully execute and attempt to execute a scheme and 

artifice to defraud a health care benefit program, to wit: Medicaid, and to obtain, by means of 

materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, money and property 

owned by and under the custody and control of said health care benefit program in connection 

with the delivery of and payment for health care benefits and services. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 666(a)(l)(A) and I347(a)) 

The source ofyour deponent' s information and the grounds for her belief are as 

follows: 1 

1. I have been a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation 

("FBI") for over three years. During my tenure with the FBI, I have participated in 

investigations involving, among other things, fraud and financial crimes. I have also conducted 

interviews, made arrests, executed search warrants, and secured other relevant information 

using a variety of investigative techniques. I am familiar with the facts and circumstances set 

Because the purpose of this Complaint is to set forth only those facts necessary 
to establish probable cause to arrest, I have not described all the relevant facts and 
circumstances of which I am aware. 
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forth below from my participation in the investigation; my review of the investigative file; my 

communication with witnesses and other law enforcement officers; my review of reports of 

other law enforcement officers involved in the investigation; and my review of other records 

associated with the investigation. 

2. The FBI and the New York City Department of Investigation ("DOI") 

have been conducting an investigation into allegations of fraudulent billing practices in 

connection with the New York State Early In!ervention Program (the "EIP"). The EIP is a 

New York State program that provides remedial services to developmentally delayed children 

from birth to age three. Such services may include physical, occupational, and speech 

therapy; special instruction; and social work services. These services are provided by 

individual therapists who are either subcontractors or employees of agencies that hold EIP 

contracts with the New York State Department of Health ("NYS DOH"). NYC DOHMH 

administers the EIP in New York City and conducts audit, quality assurance, and compliance 

oversight of the EIP, under the ultimate oversight ofNYS DOH. 

3. In order to receive payment for an EIP therapy session, a therapist must 

provide a written report, known as a session note, documenting his or her session with a child. 

Sessions generally occur in half-hour or one-hour increments. These session notes detail the 

date, time and place of the session as well as some details of the therapy given and the child's 

progress in response to the treatment. Session notes must be signed by the therapist and the 

parent or guardian of the child immediately after the EIP therapy session ends. 

4. EIP therapists based in New York City are paid for their services through 

EIP agencies which are, in turn, reimbursed by either: (i) Medicaid; (ii) the NYC DOHMH 

( through an escrow account managed by New York State); or (iii) private insurance companies. 



4 

Between 2012 and 2018, NYC DOHMH received at least $10,000 in federal funds each 

calendar year.2 

5. As set forth below, the investigation to date has revealed that the 

defendants, all EIP therapists, submitted numerous fraudulent session notes and accompanying 

invoices for non-existent EIP sessions that purportedly occurred in the Eastern District ofNew 

York and elsewhere. 

I. KADERRAH DOYLE 

6. Between approximately November 2014 and May 2017, KADERRAH 

DOYLE, an EIP therapist, submitted fraudulent session notes and invoices. In return, 

DOYLE received payment for at least 1,000 non-existent EIP sessions purportedly occurring 

in the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, resulting in the improper disbursement of 

more than $29,000 in Medicaid funds and more than $71,000 in NYC DOHMH funds. For 

example: 

a. Law enforcement agents obtained historical location data3 for DOYLE's 

cellular telephone, which was identified as DOYLE' s cellular telephone based on, among other 

things, EIP employment records. Law enforcement officers compared the historical location 

2 The vast majority of reimbursements for EIP therapists do not come from 
private insurance companies, but instead come from either Medicaid or the NYC DOHMH. 
For example, in 201 7, less than two percent of the total reimbursements for EIP therapists 
came from private insurance companies. 

3 In each instance herein where reference is made to historical location data that 
law enforcement agents obtained for cellular telephones, the data was obtained via a judicially 
authorized search warrant. 
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data4 associated with DOYLE' s telephone to location information contained in the EIP session 

notes submitted by DOYLE. Based on this review, agents determined that on more than 500 

occasions, DOYLE was not present in the vicinity of the EIP therapy session location at the 

time that the session purportedly occurred. 

b. Law enforcement officers also reviewed telephone toll records for 

DOYLE's cellular telephone and determined that on at least 350 occasions DOYLE was using 

her cellular telephone during at least a quarter of the time period that she claimed to be 

performing an EIP therapy session. According to NYC DOHMH officials, EIP therapists 

cannot treat a child while using a telephone, because EIP therapists must monitor, interact 

with, and take notes about the child throughout the entire session. 

c. Law enforcement officers also interviewed the parents, guardians, 

teachers and daycare providers of children to whom DOYLE claimed to provide EIP therapy 

sess10ns. Based on these interviews, law enforcement officers identified at least 150 

occasions in which DOYLE claimed to perform an EIP therapy session, but which the parent, 

guardian, teacher or daycare provider stated never actually occurred. This included numerous 

occasions when the parent, guardian, teacher or daycare provider stated that their signature on 

the fraudulent session note submitted by DOYLE was a forgery. 

4 Specifically, law enforcement agents obtained historical cell-site data for 
DOYLE' s cellular telephone. Based on my training and experience, I know that historical cell­
site data identifies the "cell towers" (i.e., antenna towers covering specific geographic areas) 
that received a radio signal from a given cellular telephone and, in some cases, the "sector" 
(i.e., faces ofthe towers) to which the telephone connected at a given point in time. Historical 
cell-site data thus can establish the general geographic location of a cellular telephone at a 
given point in time. 
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d. Additionally, at all times relevant to the investigation, DOYLE was 

employed as a full-time teacher with the New York City Department of Education ("DOE"). 

Law enforcement officers reviewed DOE attendance records and determined that, on at least 

60 occasions, DOYLE submitted a fraudulent EIP invoice for a session that purportedly 

occurred during a time period when, according to DOE attendance records, DOYLE was at 

work. 

e. Law enforcement officers also reviewed travel records for several 

airlines and determined that, on at least 55 occasions, DOYLE submitted fraudulent EIP 

invoices for therapy sessions that purportedly occurred when DOYLE was either outside of 

New York State or in transit. 

f. Finally, law enforcement officers also identified numerous occasions in 

which DOYLE submitted two fraudulent EIP invoices in which DOYLE claimed to be 

providing EIP therapy sessions for two different children at two different locations at the same 

time. 

IL CARA STEINBERG 

7. Between approximately July 2015 and June 2017, CARA STEINBERG, 

an EIP therapist, submitted fraudulent session notes and invoices and received payment for 

more than 1,000 non-existent EIP sessions purportedly occurring in the Eastern District of 

New York and elsewhere. These false claims resulted in the improper disbursement of more 

than $24,000 in Medicaid funds and more than $85,000 in NYC DOHMH funds. For 

example: 

a. Law enforcement officers reviewed telephone toll records for 

STEINBERG' s cellular telephone, which they identified as STEINBERG' s cellular telephone 
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based on, among other things, EIP employment records, and determined that on at least 260 

occasions STEINBERG was using her cellular telephone during at least a quarter of the time 

period that she claimed to be performing an EIP therapy session. 

b. Law enforcement officers also reviewed telephone toll records for 

STEINBERG's cellular telephone and found that, on many occasions, those records identified 

the geographic region where STEINBERG was located at the time of a telephone contact. On 

at least 250 occasions STEINBERG submitted a fraudulent EIP invoice for a purported EIP 

therapy session when the telephone toll records reflected that STEINBERG was not in the 

geographic region of the EIP therapy session at the time she claimed the EIP therapy session 

took place. 

c. Additionally, on numerous occasions STEINBERG claimed in her EIP 

session notes and invoices to have performed EIP therapy sessions at daycare providers. Law 

enforcement officers reviewed attendance records at these daycare providers and identified at 

least 200 occasions in which STEINBERG claimed to perform an EIP therapy session at a 

daycare provider at a time when the attendance records reflected that the child purportedly 

receiving the EIP therapy was not present at the daycare or the daycare was closed at the time 

the session was claimed to occur. 

d. Law enforcement officers also interviewed the parents, guardians, 

teachers and daycare providers of children to whom STEINBERG claimed to provide EIP 

therapy sessions. On at least 220 occasions, STEINBERG claimed to perform an EIP therapy 

session and submitted an EIP session note containing a signature that the parent, guardian, 

teacher or daycare provider stated was a forgery or for a session that the parent, guardian, 

teacher or daycare provider stated did not occur. In addition, law enforcement officers also 
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reviewed text message correspondence between STEINBERG and certain parents, guardians, 

teachers and daycare providers and identified at least 80 occasions in which STEINBERG 

submitted an invoice for an EIP therapy session that never occurred, as reflected in the text 

message correspondence. 

e. Law enforcement officers also identified instances in which 

STEINBERG submitted invoices for therapy sessions performed under a separate program, 

the DOE's Committee on Preschool Special Education ("CPSE") program.5 Law enforcement 

officers reviewed STEINBERG's invoices for the CPSE program and determined that on at 

least 100 occasions STEINBERG submitted an invoice for an EIP therapy session purportedly 

occurring at one location for one child and an invoice for a CPSE therapy session purportedly 

occurring at the same time as the EIP therapy session, but at a different location for a different 

child. 

f. Finally, law enforcement officers reviewed historical location data for 

STEINBERG's cellular telephone. Law enforcement officers compared the historical 

location data to location information contained in the EIP session notes submitted by 

STEINBERG and determined that STEINBERG, on numerous occasions, was not present in 

the vicinity ofthe EIP therapy session location at the time ofthe purported EIP therapy session. 

III. MARINA GOLFO 

8. During the course of this investigation, law enforcement officers 

determined that MARINA GOLFO, an EIP therapist, had submitted numerous fraudulent 

5 Like the EIP, the CPSE program provides interventionist therapy sessions to 
children that may include speech therapy, physical therapy and special instruction. Although 
the EIP provides services for children :from birth to three years old, the CPSE program provides 
services for children from three years old to five years old. 
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session notes and invoices for non-existent EIP sessions purportedly occurring in the Eastern 

District ofNew York and elsewhere. Specifically, law enforcement officers determined that, 

between approximately April 2015 and February 2018, GOLFO submitted fraudulent session 

notes and invoices and received payment for more than 1,500 non-existent EIP sessions, 

resulting in the improper disbursement ofmore than $10,000 in Medicaid funds and more than 

$146,000 in NYC DOHMH funds. For example: 

a. Law enforcement officers reviewed telephone toll records for GOLFO's 

cellular telephone, which they identified as GOLFO's cellular telephone based on, among 

other things, EIP employment records, and determined that on at least 800 occasions GOLFO 

was using her cellular telephone during at least a quarter of the time period that she claimed to 

be performing an EIP therapy session. 

b. Law enforcement officers obtained historical location data for GOLFO' s 

cellular telephone. Law enforcement officers compared the historical location data to location 

information contained in the EIP session notes submitted by GOLFO and determined that 

GOLFO, on more than 500 occasions, was not present in the vicinity ofthe EIP therapy session 

location at the time of the purported EIP therapy session. 

c. Law enforcement officers also reviewed toll records for GOLFO's 

cellular telephone and found that, on many occasions, those records identified the geographic 

region where GOLFO was located at the time of a telephone contact. On at least 175 

occasions, GOLFO submitted a fraudulent EIP invoice for a purported EIP therapy session 

when the toll records reflected that GOLFO was not in the geographic region ofthe EIP therapy 

session at the time she claimed the session took place. 
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d. Law enforcement officers also obtained license plate recognition 

("LPR") records for a vehicle registered to GOLFO. Law enforcement officers compared 

LPR records to the EIP invoices submitted by GOLFO and determined that on at least 50 

occasions GOLFO submitted an invoice for an EIP therapy session when LPR records reflected 

that her vehicle was not in the vicinity of the EIP therapy session location at the time of the 

purported session. 

e. Law enforcement officers also interviewed the parents, guardians, 

teachers and daycare providers of children to whom GOLFO claimed to provide EIP therapy 

sessions. Law enforcement officers identified at least 60 occasions in which GOLFO claimed 

to perform an EIP therapy session, but which the parent, guardian, teacher or daycare provider 

stated did not occur as billed, including numerous occasions when the parent, guardian, teacher 

or daycare provider stated that their signature on the session note submitted by GOLFO for the 

EIP therapy session was, in fact, a forgery. 

IV. EGO ONAGA 

9. During the course of this investigation, law enforcement officers 

determined that EGO ONAGA, an EIP therapist, had submitted numerous :fraudulent session 

notes and invoices for non-existent EIP sessions purportedly occurring in the Eastern District 

of New York and elsewhere. Between approximately April 2014 and April 2018, ONAGA 

submitted fraudulent session notes and invoices and received payment for more than 600 non­

existent EIP sessions, resulting in the improper disbursement of more than $19,000 in 

Medicaid funds and more than $40,000 in NYC DOHMH funds. For example: 

a. Law enforcement obtained judicial authorization to place a GPS tracking 

device on a vehicle registered to ONAGA. Pursuant to a judicially authorized warrant, law 
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enforcement officers installed the device on or about March 13, 2018 and ceased using the 

device on or about April 27, 2018. Law enforcement officers determined that on 

approximately 330 occasions during that time period ONAGA submitted a fraudulent session 

note and invoice for an EIP therapy session when the GPS tracking device reflected that 

ONAGA was not the vicinity of the EIP therapy session location at the time she claimed the 

session occurred. 

b. Law enforcement officers also reviewed travel records for several 

airlines and determined that, on at least 170 occasions, ONAGA submitted fraudulent EIP 

invoices for therapy sessions that purportedly occurred when ONAGA was, in fact, either 

outside ofNew York or in transit. 

c. Additionally, during the course of the time period relevant to this 

investigation, ONAGA was employed full-time as a DOE teacher. Law enforcement officers 

reviewed DOE attendance records and overtime records and determined that, on at least 90 

occasions, ONAGA submitted a fraudulent EIP invoice for a session that purportedly occurred 

during a time period when, according to DOE attendance records, ONAGA was at work. 

V. L YUBOV BEYLINA 

10. During the course of this investigation, law enforcement officers 

determined that L YUBOV BEYLINA, an EIP therapist, had submitted numerous fraudulent 

session notes and invoices for non-existent EIP sessions purportedly occurring in the Eastern 

District ofNew York and elsewhere. Specifically, law enforcement officers determined that, 

between approximately August 2012 and January 2017, BEYLINA submitted fraudulent 

session notes and invoices and received payment for more than 600 non-existent EIP sessions, 
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resulting in the improper disbursement ofmore than $24,000 in Medicaid funds and more than 

$17,000 in NYC DOHMH funds. For example: 

a. Law enforcement officers reviewed toll records for BEYLINA' s cellular 

telephone, which they identified as BEYLINA's cellular telephone based on, among other 

things, EIP employment records, and determined that on at least 3 00 occasions BEYLINA was 

using her cellular telephone during at least a quarter of the time period that she claimed to be 

performing an EIP therapy session. 

b. Law enforcement officers also interviewed the parents, guardians, 

teachers and daycare providers ofchildren to whom BEYLINA claimed to provide EIP therapy 

sessions. Law enforcement officers identified at least 100 occasions in which BEYLINA 

claimed to perform an EIP therapy session and submitted an EIP session note containing a 

signature that the parent, guardian, teacher or daycare provider stated was a forgery or for a 

session that did not occur. In addition, law enforcement officers also reviewed text message 

correspondence between BEYLINA and certain parents, guardians, teachers and daycare 

providers and identified at least 180 occasions in which BEYLINA submitted an invoice for 

an EIP therapy session that, as reflected in the text message correspondence, never occurred. 

c. Law enforcement officers also reviewed travel records for several 

airlines and determined that, on at least 80 occasions, BEYLINA submitted fraudulent EIP 

invoices for therapy sessions that purportedly occurred when BEYLINA was, in fact, either 

outside ofNew York or in air transit. For example, BEYLINA submitted 51 invoices for EIP 

therapy sessions purportedly occurring between June 28, 2016 and July 5, 2016, when 

BEYLINA was, in fact, in the Dominican Republic. A photograph of BEYLINA in the 
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Dominican Republic during the time period she claimed she was in New York performing EIP 

therapy sessions is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

d. Finally, law enforcement officers reviewed historical location data for 

BEYLINA's cellular telephone. Law enforcement officers compared the historical location 

data to the EIP session notes submitted by BEYLINA and determined that BEYLINA, on 

numerous occasions, was not present in the vicinity of the EIP therapy session location at the 

time of the purported EIP therapy session. 

VI. DANIELLE SCOPINICH 

11. During the course of this investigation, law enforcement officers 

determined that DANIELLE SCOPINICH, an EIP therapist, had submitted numerous 

fraudulent session notes and invoices for non-existent EIP sessions purportedly occurring in 

the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere. Between approximately January 2015 and 

July 2017, SCOPINICH submitted fraudulent session notes and invoices and received payment 

for more than 500 non-existent EIP sessions, resulting in the improper disbursement of more 

than $15,000 in Medicaid funds and more than $15,000 in NYC DOHMH funds. For 

example: 

a. Law enforcement officers obtained historical location data 

SCOPINICH's cellular telephone, which they identified as SCOPINICH's cellular telephone 

based on, among other things, EIP employment records,. Law enforcement officers compared 

this historical location data to the EIP session notes submitted by SCOPINICH and determined 

that SCOPINICH, on more than 350 occasions, was not present in the vicinity of the EIP 

therapy session location at the time of the purported EIP therapy session. 
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b. Law enforcement officers also learned, during the course of this 

investigation, that SCOPINICH was also submitting invoices for therapy sessions performed 

under the DOE's CPSE program. Law enforcement officers reviewed SCOPINICH's 

invoices for the CPSE program and determined that on at least 48 occasions SCOPINICH 

submitted an invoice for an EIP therapy session purportedly occurring at one location for one 

child and an invoice for a CPSE therapy session purportedly occurring at the same time as the 

EIP therapy session, but at a different location for a different child. 

c. Law enforcement officers also interviewed the parents, guardians, 

teachers and daycare providers of children to whom SCOPINICH claimed to provide EIP 

therapy sessions. Law enforcement officers identified at least 7 4 occasions in which 

SCOPINICH claimed to perform an EIP therapy session and submitted an EIP session note 

containing a signature that the parent, guardian, teacher or daycare provider stated was a 

forgery or for a session that did not occur. 

d. Law enforcement officers also found that SCOPINICH repeatedly 

claimed in her EIP session notes and invoices to have performed EIP therapy sessions at 

daycare providers. Law enforcement officers reviewed sign-in sheet records at these daycare 

providers and identified at least 50 occasions in which SCOPINICH claimed to perform an 

EIP therapy session at a daycare provider at a time when the sign-in sheet records reflected 

that SCOPINICH was not present at the daycare. 

e. Law enforcement officers reviewed toll records for SCOPINICH's 

cellular telephone and determined that on numerous occasions SCOPINICH was using her 

cellular telephone during at least a quarter ofthe time period that she claimed to be performing 

an EIP therapy session. 
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VII. ENOCK MENSAH 

12. During the course of this investigation, law enforcement officers 

determined that ENOCK MENSAH, an EIP therapist, had submitted numerous fraudulent 

session notes and invoices for non-existent EIP sessions purportedly occurring in the Eastern 

District ofNew York and elsewhere. Between approximately August 2013 and August 2017, 

MENSAH submitted fraudulent session notes and invoices and received payment for more 

than 1,200 non-existent EIP sessions, resulting in the improper disbursement of more than 

$105,000 in Medicaid funds and more than $20,000 in NYC DOHMH funds. For example: 

a. Law enforcement officers obtained LPR records for a vehicle registered 

to MENSAH. Law enforcement officers compared LPR records to the EIP invoices submitted 

by MENSAH. On at least 1,000 occasions MENSAH submitted an invoice for an EIP therapy 

session when LPR records reflected that his vehicle was not in the vicinity of the EIP therapy 

session location at the time of the purported session. 

b. Law enforcement officers reviewed toll records for MENSAH' s cellular 

telephone, which they identified as MENSAH's cellular telephone based on, among other 

things, EIP employment records, and determined that on at least 200 occasions MENSAH was 

using his cellular telephone during at least a quarter of the time period that he claimed to be 

performing an EIP therapy session. 

c. Law enforcement officers also interviewed the parents, guardians, 

teachers and daycare providers of children to whom MENSAH claimed to provide EIP therapy 

sessions. Law enforcement officers identified at least 90 occasions in which MENSAH 

claimed to perform an EIP therapy session and submitted an EIP session note containing a 
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signature that the parent, guardian, teacher or daycare provider stated was a forgery or for a 

session that did not occur. 

VIII. PATRICIA HAKIM 

13. During the course of this investigation, law enforcement officers 

determined that PATRICIA HAKIM, an EIP therapist, had submitted numerous fraudulent 

session notes and invoices for non-existent EIP sessions purportedly occurring in the Eastern 

District of New York and elsewhere. Specifically, law enforcement officers determined that, 

between approximately March 2015 and October 2017, HAKIM submitted fraudulent session 

notes and invoices and received payment for more than 300 non-existent EIP sessions, 

resulting in the improper disbursement of more than $3,000 in Medicaid funds and more than 

$18,000 in NYC DOHMH funds. For example: 

a. Law enforcement officers reviewed toll records for HAKIM' s cellular 

telephone, which they identified as HAKIM' s cellular telephone based on, among other things, 

EIP employment records, and determined that on at least 140 occasions HAKIM was using her 

cellular telephone during at least a quarter ofthe time period that she claimed to be performing 

an EIP therapy session. 

b. Law enforcement officers also reviewed telephone toll records for 

HAKIM' s cellular telephone and found that, on many occasions, those records identified the 

geographic region where HAKIM was located at the time of a telephone contact. On at least 

60 occasions HAKIM submitted a fraudulent EIP invoice for a purported EIP therapy session 

when the telephone toll records reflected that HAKIM was not in the geographic region of the 

EIP therapy session at the time she claimed the EIP therapy session took place. 
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c. Law enforcement officers also obtained bank transaction records for 

accounts in HAKIM's name and identified at least 50 occasions in which HAKIM engaged in 

banking transactions out of New York State on the same dates that HAKIM claimed to be 

performing EIP therapy sessions in New York State. 

d. Law enforcement officers also interviewed the parents, guardians, 

teachers and daycare providers of children to whom HAKIM claimed to provide EIP therapy 

sessions. Law enforcement officers identified at least 3 0 occasions in which HAKIM claimed 

to perform an EIP therapy session and submitted an EIP session note containing a signature 

that the parent, guardian, teacher or daycare provider stated was a forgery or for a session that 

did not occur. 

e. Law enforcement officers also learned, during the course of this 

investigation, that HAKIM was also submitting invoices for therapy sessions performed under 

the DOE's CPSE program. Law enforcement officers reviewed HAKIM's invoices for the 

CPSE program and determined that on at least 30 occasions HAKIM submitted an invoice for 

an EIP therapy session purportedly occurring at one location for one child and an invoice for 

a CPSE therapy session purportedly occurring at the same time as the EIP therapy session but 

at a different location for a different child. 

f. Law enforcement officers obtained LPR records for a vehicle registered 

to HAKIM. Law enforcement officers compared LPR records to the EIP invoices submitted 

by HAKIM and determined that on at least 10 occasions HAKIM submitted an invoice for an 

EIP therapy session when LPR records reflected that her vehicle was not in the vicinity of the 

EIP therapy session location at the time of the purported session. 
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g. Law enforcement officers also reviewed travel records for several 

airlines and determined that, on numerous occasions, HAKIM submitted fraudulent EIP 

invoices for therapy sessions that purportedly occurred when HAKIM was, in fact, either 

outside ofNew York or in air transit, including when HAKIM was traveling abroad in Ireland 

and Spain. 

IX. REQUEST FOR SEALING 

14. It is respectfully requested that this Court issue an order sealing, until 

further order of the Court, all papers submitted in support of this application, including the 

application itself. I believe that sealing these documents is necessary to preserve the integrity 

ofthis ongoing criminal investigation. Based upon my training and experience, I have learned 

that criminals actively search online for criminal affidavits and arrest warrants via the Internet, 

and disseminate them to other criminals as they deem appropriate. Premature disclosure of 

this affidavit and related documents may have a significant and negative impact on the 

continuing investigation and may severely jeopardize its effectiveness. 
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WHEREFORE, your deponent respectfully requests that the defendants 

KADERRAH DOYLE, CARA STEINBERG, MARINA GOLFO, EGO ONAGA, L YUBOV 

BELINA, DANIELLE SCOPINICH, ENOCK MENSAH and PATRICIA HAKIM be dealt 

with according to law. 

MELISSA Gei-?IA 
Special Agen~deral Bureau ofInvestigation 

Sworn to before me this 
2...day of O<;teber, 2018 

THE HONORABf:E VERA M. SCANLON 
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE IDDGE 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
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	agents of an agency of a local government, to wit: the New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene (the "NYC DOHMH"), did knowingly and intentionally embezzle, steal, obtain by fraud, or otherwise without authority knowingly convert to the use of a person other than the rightful owner, property that is valued at $5,000 or more and is owned by, or is under the care, custody, or control of the NYC DOHMH, an organization that received benefits in excess of $10,000 under one or more Federal programs i

	(Title 18, United States Code, Section 666(a)(l)(A) and I347(a)) The source ofyour deponent' s information and the grounds for her belief are as follows: 
	1 

	1. I have been a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation ("FBI") for over three years. During my tenure with the FBI, I have participated in investigations involving, among other things, fraud and financial crimes. I have also conducted interviews, made arrests, executed search warrants, and secured other relevant information using a variety ofinvestigative techniques. I am familiar with the facts and circumstances set 
	Because the purpose ofthis Complaint is to set forth only those facts necessary to establish probable cause to arrest, I have not described all the relevant facts and circumstances of which I am aware. 
	forth below from my participation in the investigation; my review ofthe investigative file; my communication with witnesses and other law enforcement officers; my review of reports of other law enforcement officers involved in the investigation; and my review of other records associated with the investigation. 
	2. 
	2. 
	2. 
	The FBI and the New York City Department of Investigation ("DOI") have been conducting an investigation into allegations of fraudulent billing practices in connection with the New York State Early In!ervention Program (the "EIP"). The EIP is a New York State program that provides remedial services to developmentally delayed children from birth to age three. Such services may include physical, occupational, and speech therapy; special instruction; and social work services. These services are provided by indi

	3. 
	3. 
	In order to receive payment for an EIP therapy session, a therapist must provide a written report, known as a session note, documenting his or her session with a child. Sessions generally occur in half-hour or one-hour increments. These session notes detail the date, time and place ofthe session as well as some details ofthe therapy given and the child's progress in response to the treatment. Session notes must be signed by the therapist and the parent or guardian ofthe child immediately after the EIP thera

	4. 
	4. 
	EIP therapists based in New York City are paid for their services through EIP agencies which are, in turn, reimbursed by either: (i) Medicaid; (ii) the NYC DOHMH ( through an escrow account managed by New York State); or (iii) private insurance companies. 


	Between 2012 and 2018, NYC DOHMH received at least $10,000 in federal funds each calendar year.
	2 

	5. As set forth below, the investigation to date has revealed that the defendants, all EIP therapists, submitted numerous fraudulent session notes and accompanying invoices for non-existent EIP sessions that purportedly occurred in the Eastern District ofNew York and elsewhere. 
	I. KADERRAH DOYLE 
	6. Between approximately November 2014 and May 2017, KADERRAH DOYLE, an EIP therapist, submitted fraudulent session notes and invoices. In return, DOYLE received payment for at least 1,000 non-existent EIP sessions purportedly occurring in the Eastern District ofNew York and elsewhere, resulting in the improper disbursement of more than $29,000 in Medicaid funds and more than $71,000 in NYC DOHMH funds. For example: 
	a. Law enforcement agents obtained historical location datafor DOYLE's cellular telephone, which was identified as DOYLE' s cellular telephone based on, among other things, EIP employment records. Law enforcement officers compared the historical location 
	3 

	The vast majority of reimbursements for EIP therapists do not come from private insurance companies, but instead come from either Medicaid or the NYC DOHMH. For example, in 201 7, less than two percent of the total reimbursements for EIP therapists came from private insurance companies. 
	2 

	In each instance herein where reference is made to historical location data that law enforcement agents obtained for cellular telephones, the data was obtained via a judicially authorized search warrant. 
	3 

	dataassociated with DOYLE' s telephone to location information contained in the EIP session notes submitted by DOYLE. Based on this review, agents determined that on more than 500 occasions, DOYLE was not present in the vicinity of the EIP therapy session location at the time that the session purportedly occurred. 
	4 

	b. 
	b. 
	b. 
	Law enforcement officers also reviewed telephone toll records for DOYLE's cellular telephone and determined that on at least 350 occasions DOYLE was using her cellular telephone during at least a quarter of the time period that she claimed to be performing an EIP therapy session. According to NYC DOHMH officials, EIP therapists cannot treat a child while using a telephone, because EIP therapists must monitor, interact with, and take notes about the child throughout the entire session. 

	c. 
	c. 
	Law enforcement officers also interviewed the parents, guardians, teachers and daycare providers of children to whom DOYLE claimed to provide EIP therapy sess10ns. Based on these interviews, law enforcement officers identified at least 150 occasions in which DOYLE claimed to perform an EIP therapy session, but which the parent, guardian, teacher or daycare provider stated never actually occurred. This included numerous occasions when the parent, guardian, teacher or daycare provider stated that their signat


	Specifically, law enforcement agents obtained historical cell-site data for DOYLE' s cellular telephone. Based on my training and experience, I know that historical cell­site data identifies the "cell towers" (i.e., antenna towers covering specific geographic areas) that received a radio signal from a given cellular telephone and, in some cases, the "sector" (i.e., faces ofthe towers) to which the telephone connected at a given point in time. Historical cell-site data thus can establish the general geograph
	4 

	d. 
	d. 
	d. 
	Additionally, at all times relevant to the investigation, DOYLE was employed as a full-time teacher with the New York City Department of Education ("DOE"). Law enforcement officers reviewed DOE attendance records and determined that, on at least 60 occasions, DOYLE submitted a fraudulent EIP invoice for a session that purportedly occurred during a time period when, according to DOE attendance records, DOYLE was at work. 

	e. 
	e. 
	Law enforcement officers also reviewed travel records for several airlines and determined that, on at least 55 occasions, DOYLE submitted fraudulent EIP invoices for therapy sessions that purportedly occurred when DOYLE was either outside of New York State or in transit. 

	f. 
	f. 
	Finally, law enforcement officers also identified numerous occasions in which DOYLE submitted two fraudulent EIP invoices in which DOYLE claimed to be providing EIP therapy sessions for two different children at two different locations at the same time. 


	IL CARA STEINBERG 
	7. Between approximately July 2015 and June 2017, CARA STEINBERG, an EIP therapist, submitted fraudulent session notes and invoices and received payment for more than 1,000 non-existent EIP sessions purportedly occurring in the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere. These false claims resulted in the improper disbursement of more than $24,000 in Medicaid funds and more than $85,000 in NYC DOHMH funds. For example: 
	a. Law enforcement officers reviewed telephone toll records for STEINBERG' s cellular telephone, which they identified as STEINBERG' s cellular telephone 
	a. Law enforcement officers reviewed telephone toll records for STEINBERG' s cellular telephone, which they identified as STEINBERG' s cellular telephone 
	based on, among other things, EIP employment records, and determined that on at least 260 occasions STEINBERG was using her cellular telephone during at least a quarter of the time period that she claimed to be performing an EIP therapy session. 

	b. 
	b. 
	b. 
	Law enforcement officers also reviewed telephone toll records for STEINBERG's cellular telephone and found that, on many occasions, those records identified the geographic region where STEINBERG was located at the time of a telephone contact. On at least 250 occasions STEINBERG submitted a fraudulent EIP invoice for a purported EIP therapy session when the telephone toll records reflected that STEINBERG was not in the geographic region of the EIP therapy session at the time she claimed the EIP therapy sessi

	c. 
	c. 
	Additionally, on numerous occasions STEINBERG claimed in her EIP session notes and invoices to have performed EIP therapy sessions at daycare providers. Law enforcement officers reviewed attendance records at these daycare providers and identified at least 200 occasions in which STEINBERG claimed to perform an EIP therapy session at a daycare provider at a time when the attendance records reflected that the child purportedly receiving the EIP therapy was not present at the daycare or the daycare was closed 

	d. 
	d. 
	Law enforcement officers also interviewed the parents, guardians, teachers and daycare providers of children to whom STEINBERG claimed to provide EIP therapy sessions. On at least 220 occasions, STEINBERG claimed to perform an EIP therapy session and submitted an EIP session note containing a signature that the parent, guardian, teacher or daycare provider stated was a forgery or for a session that the parent, guardian, teacher or daycare provider stated did not occur. In addition, law enforcement officers 


	reviewed text message correspondence between STEINBERG and certain parents, guardians, teachers and daycare providers and identified at least 80 occasions in which STEINBERG submitted an invoice for an EIP therapy session that never occurred, as reflected in the text message correspondence. 
	e. 
	e. 
	e. 
	Law enforcement officers also identified instances in which STEINBERG submitted invoices for therapy sessions performed under a separate program, the DOE's Committee on Preschool Special Education ("CPSE") program.Law enforcement officers reviewed STEINBERG's invoices for the CPSE program and determined that on at least 100 occasions STEINBERG submitted an invoice for an EIP therapy session purportedly occurring at one location for one child and an invoice for a CPSE therapy session purportedly occurring at
	5 


	f. 
	f. 
	Finally, law enforcement officers reviewed historical location data for STEINBERG's cellular telephone. Law enforcement officers compared the historical location data to location information contained in the EIP session notes submitted by STEINBERG and determined that STEINBERG, on numerous occasions, was not present in the vicinity ofthe EIP therapy session location at the time ofthe purported EIP therapy session. 


	III. MARINA GOLFO 
	8. During the course of this investigation, law enforcement officers determined that MARINA GOLFO, an EIP therapist, had submitted numerous fraudulent 
	Like the EIP, the CPSE program provides interventionist therapy sessions to children that may include speech therapy, physical therapy and special instruction. Although the EIP provides services for children :from birth to three years old, the CPSE program provides services for children from three years old to five years old. 
	5 

	session notes and invoices for non-existent EIP sessions purportedly occurring in the Eastern District ofNew York and elsewhere. Specifically, law enforcement officers determined that, between approximately April 2015 and February 2018, GOLFO submitted fraudulent session notes and invoices and received payment for more than 1,500 non-existent EIP sessions, resulting in the improper disbursement ofmore than $10,000 in Medicaid funds and more than $146,000 in NYC DOHMH funds. For example: 
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Law enforcement officers reviewed telephone toll records for GOLFO's cellular telephone, which they identified as GOLFO's cellular telephone based on, among other things, EIP employment records, and determined that on at least 800 occasions GOLFO was using her cellular telephone during at least a quarter ofthe time period that she claimed to be performing an EIP therapy session. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Law enforcement officers obtained historical location data for GOLFO' s cellular telephone. Law enforcement officers compared the historical location data to location information contained in the EIP session notes submitted by GOLFO and determined that GOLFO, on more than 500 occasions, was not present in the vicinity ofthe EIP therapy session location at the time of the purported EIP therapy session. 

	c. 
	c. 
	Law enforcement officers also reviewed toll records for GOLFO's cellular telephone and found that, on many occasions, those records identified the geographic region where GOLFO was located at the time of a telephone contact. On at least 175 occasions, GOLFO submitted a fraudulent EIP invoice for a purported EIP therapy session when the toll records reflected that GOLFO was not in the geographic region ofthe EIP therapy 


	session at the time she claimed the session took place. 
	d. 
	d. 
	d. 
	Law enforcement officers also obtained license plate recognition ("LPR") records for a vehicle registered to GOLFO. Law enforcement officers compared LPR records to the EIP invoices submitted by GOLFO and determined that on at least 50 occasions GOLFO submitted an invoice for an EIP therapy session when LPR records reflected that her vehicle was not in the vicinity of the EIP therapy session location at the time of the purported session. 

	e. 
	e. 
	Law enforcement officers also interviewed the parents, guardians, teachers and daycare providers of children to whom GOLFO claimed to provide EIP therapy sessions. Law enforcement officers identified at least 60 occasions in which GOLFO claimed to perform an EIP therapy session, but which the parent, guardian, teacher or daycare provider stated did not occur as billed, including numerous occasions when the parent, guardian, teacher or daycare provider stated that their signature on the session note submitte


	IV. EGO ONAGA 
	9. During the course of this investigation, law enforcement officers determined that EGO ONAGA, an EIP therapist, had submitted numerous :fraudulent session notes and invoices for non-existent EIP sessions purportedly occurring in the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere. Between approximately April 2014 and April 2018, ONAGA submitted fraudulent session notes and invoices and received payment for more than 600 non­existent EIP sessions, resulting in the improper disbursement of more than $19,000 in M
	a. Law enforcement obtained judicial authorization to place a GPS tracking device on a vehicle registered to ONAGA. Pursuant to a judicially authorized warrant, law 
	a. Law enforcement obtained judicial authorization to place a GPS tracking device on a vehicle registered to ONAGA. Pursuant to a judicially authorized warrant, law 
	enforcement officers installed the device on or about March 13, 2018 and ceased using the device on or about April 27, 2018. Law enforcement officers determined that on approximately 330 occasions during that time period ONAGA submitted a fraudulent session note and invoice for an EIP therapy session when the GPS tracking device reflected that ONAGA was not the vicinity of the EIP therapy session location at the time she claimed the session occurred. 

	b. 
	b. 
	b. 
	Law enforcement officers also reviewed travel records for several airlines and determined that, on at least 170 occasions, ONAGA submitted fraudulent EIP invoices for therapy sessions that purportedly occurred when ONAGA was, in fact, either outside ofNew York or in transit. 

	c. 
	c. 
	Additionally, during the course of the time period relevant to this investigation, ONAGA was employed full-time as a DOE teacher. Law enforcement officers reviewed DOE attendance records and overtime records and determined that, on at least 90 occasions, ONAGA submitted a fraudulent EIP invoice for a session that purportedly occurred during a time period when, according to DOE attendance records, ONAGA was at work. 

	V. 
	V. 
	L YUBOV BEYLINA 


	10. During the course of this investigation, law enforcement officers determined that L YUBOV BEYLINA, an EIP therapist, had submitted numerous fraudulent session notes and invoices for non-existent EIP sessions purportedly occurring in the Eastern District ofNew York and elsewhere. Specifically, law enforcement officers determined that, between approximately August 2012 and January 2017, BEYLINA submitted fraudulent session notes and invoices and received payment for more than 600 non-existent EIP sessions
	10. During the course of this investigation, law enforcement officers determined that L YUBOV BEYLINA, an EIP therapist, had submitted numerous fraudulent session notes and invoices for non-existent EIP sessions purportedly occurring in the Eastern District ofNew York and elsewhere. Specifically, law enforcement officers determined that, between approximately August 2012 and January 2017, BEYLINA submitted fraudulent session notes and invoices and received payment for more than 600 non-existent EIP sessions
	resulting in the improper disbursement ofmore than $24,000 in Medicaid funds and more than $17,000 in NYC DOHMH funds. For example: 

	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Law enforcement officers reviewed toll records for BEYLINA' s cellular telephone, which they identified as BEYLINA's cellular telephone based on, among other things, EIP employment records, and determined that on at least 3 00 occasions BEYLINA was using her cellular telephone during at least a quarter ofthe time period that she claimed to be performing an EIP therapy session. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Law enforcement officers also interviewed the parents, guardians, teachers and daycare providers ofchildren to whom BEYLINA claimed to provide EIP therapy sessions. Law enforcement officers identified at least 100 occasions in which BEYLINA claimed to perform an EIP therapy session and submitted an EIP session note containing a signature that the parent, guardian, teacher or daycare provider stated was a forgery or for a session that did not occur. In addition, law enforcement officers also reviewed text me

	c. 
	c. 
	Law enforcement officers also reviewed travel records for several airlines and determined that, on at least 80 occasions, BEYLINA submitted fraudulent EIP invoices for therapy sessions that purportedly occurred when BEYLINA was, in fact, either outside ofNew York or in air transit. For example, BEYLINA submitted 51 invoices for EIP therapy sessions purportedly occurring between June 28, 2016 and July 5, 2016, when BEYLINA was, in fact, in the Dominican Republic. A photograph of BEYLINA in the 


	Dominican Republic during the time period she claimed she was in New York performing EIP therapy sessions is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
	d. Finally, law enforcement officers reviewed historical location data for BEYLINA's cellular telephone. Law enforcement officers compared the historical location data to the EIP session notes submitted by BEYLINA and determined that BEYLINA, on numerous occasions, was not present in the vicinity ofthe EIP therapy session location at the time ofthe purported EIP therapy session. 
	VI. DANIELLE SCOPINICH 
	11. During the course of this investigation, law enforcement officers determined that DANIELLE SCOPINICH, an EIP therapist, had submitted numerous fraudulent session notes and invoices for non-existent EIP sessions purportedly occurring in the Eastern District ofNew York and elsewhere. Between approximately January 2015 and July 2017, SCOPINICH submitted fraudulent session notes and invoices and received payment for more than 500 non-existent EIP sessions, resulting in the improper disbursement of more than
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Law enforcement officers obtained historical location data SCOPINICH's cellular telephone, which they identified as SCOPINICH's cellular telephone based on, among other things, EIP employment records,. Law enforcement officers compared this historical location data to the EIP session notes submitted by SCOPINICH and determined that SCOPINICH, on more than 350 occasions, was not present in the vicinity of the EIP therapy session location at the time ofthe purported EIP therapy session. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Law enforcement officers also learned, during the course of this investigation, that SCOPINICH was also submitting invoices for therapy sessions performed under the DOE's CPSE program. Law enforcement officers reviewed SCOPINICH's invoices for the CPSE program and determined that on at least 48 occasions SCOPINICH submitted an invoice for an EIP therapy session purportedly occurring at one location for one child and an invoice for a CPSE therapy session purportedly occurring at the same time as the EIP ther

	c. 
	c. 
	Law enforcement officers also interviewed the parents, guardians, teachers and daycare providers of children to whom SCOPINICH claimed to provide EIP therapy sessions. Law enforcement officers identified at least 7 4 occasions in which SCOPINICH claimed to perform an EIP therapy session and submitted an EIP session note containing a signature that the parent, guardian, teacher or daycare provider stated was a forgery or for a session that did not occur. 

	d. 
	d. 
	Law enforcement officers also found that SCOPINICH repeatedly claimed in her EIP session notes and invoices to have performed EIP therapy sessions at daycare providers. Law enforcement officers reviewed sign-in sheet records at these daycare providers and identified at least 50 occasions in which SCOPINICH claimed to perform an EIP therapy session at a daycare provider at a time when the sign-in sheet records reflected that SCOPINICH was not present at the daycare. 

	e. 
	e. 
	Law enforcement officers reviewed toll records for SCOPINICH's cellular telephone and determined that on numerous occasions SCOPINICH was using her cellular telephone during at least a quarter ofthe time period that she claimed to be performing an EIP therapy session. 


	VII. ENOCK MENSAH 
	12. During the course of this investigation, law enforcement officers determined that ENOCK MENSAH, an EIP therapist, had submitted numerous fraudulent session notes and invoices for non-existent EIP sessions purportedly occurring in the Eastern District ofNew York and elsewhere. Between approximately August 2013 and August 2017, MENSAH submitted fraudulent session notes and invoices and received payment for more than 1,200 non-existent EIP sessions, resulting in the improper disbursement of more than $105,
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Law enforcement officers obtained LPR records for a vehicle registered to MENSAH. Law enforcement officers compared LPR records to the EIP invoices submitted by MENSAH. On at least 1,000 occasions MENSAH submitted an invoice for an EIP therapy session when LPR records reflected that his vehicle was not in the vicinity of the EIP therapy session location at the time ofthe purported session. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Law enforcement officers reviewed toll records for MENSAH' s cellular telephone, which they identified as MENSAH's cellular telephone based on, among other things, EIP employment records, and determined that on at least 200 occasions MENSAH was using his cellular telephone during at least a quarter of the time period that he claimed to be performing an EIP therapy session. 

	c. 
	c. 
	Law enforcement officers also interviewed the parents, guardians, teachers and daycare providers of children to whom MENSAH claimed to provide EIP therapy sessions. Law enforcement officers identified at least 90 occasions in which MENSAH claimed to perform an EIP therapy session and submitted an EIP session note containing a 


	signature that the parent, guardian, teacher or daycare provider stated was a forgery or for a session that did not occur. 
	VIII. PATRICIA HAKIM 
	13. During the course of this investigation, law enforcement officers determined that PATRICIA HAKIM, an EIP therapist, had submitted numerous fraudulent session notes and invoices for non-existent EIP sessions purportedly occurring in the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere. Specifically, law enforcement officers determined that, between approximately March 2015 and October 2017, HAKIM submitted fraudulent session notes and invoices and received payment for more than 300 non-existent EIP sessions, r
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Law enforcement officers reviewed toll records for HAKIM' s cellular telephone, which they identified as HAKIM' s cellular telephone based on, among other things, EIP employment records, and determined that on at least 140 occasions HAKIM was using her cellular telephone during at least a quarter ofthe time period that she claimed to be performing an EIP therapy session. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Law enforcement officers also reviewed telephone toll records for HAKIM' s cellular telephone and found that, on many occasions, those records identified the geographic region where HAKIM was located at the time of a telephone contact. On at least 60 occasions HAKIM submitted a fraudulent EIP invoice for a purported EIP therapy session when the telephone toll records reflected that HAKIM was not in the geographic region ofthe EIP therapy session at the time she claimed the EIP therapy session took place. 

	c. 
	c. 
	Law enforcement officers also obtained bank transaction records for accounts in HAKIM's name and identified at least 50 occasions in which HAKIM engaged in banking transactions out of New York State on the same dates that HAKIM claimed to be performing EIP therapy sessions in New York State. 

	d. 
	d. 
	Law enforcement officers also interviewed the parents, guardians, teachers and daycare providers of children to whom HAKIM claimed to provide EIP therapy sessions. Law enforcement officers identified at least 3 0 occasions in which HAKIM claimed to perform an EIP therapy session and submitted an EIP session note containing a signature that the parent, guardian, teacher or daycare provider stated was a forgery or for a session that did not occur. 

	e. 
	e. 
	Law enforcement officers also learned, during the course of this investigation, that HAKIM was also submitting invoices for therapy sessions performed under the DOE's CPSE program. Law enforcement officers reviewed HAKIM's invoices for the CPSE program and determined that on at least 30 occasions HAKIM submitted an invoice for an EIP therapy session purportedly occurring at one location for one child and an invoice for a CPSE therapy session purportedly occurring at the same time as the EIP therapy session 

	f. 
	f. 
	Law enforcement officers obtained LPR records for a vehicle registered to HAKIM. Law enforcement officers compared LPR records to the EIP invoices submitted by HAKIM and determined that on at least 10 occasions HAKIM submitted an invoice for an EIP therapy session when LPR records reflected that her vehicle was not in the vicinity of the EIP therapy session location at the time of the purported session. 

	g. 
	g. 
	Law enforcement officers also reviewed travel records for several airlines and determined that, on numerous occasions, HAKIM submitted fraudulent EIP invoices for therapy sessions that purportedly occurred when HAKIM was, in fact, either outside ofNew York or in air transit, including when HAKIM was traveling abroad in Ireland and Spain. 


	IX. REQUEST FOR SEALING 
	14. It is respectfully requested that this Court issue an order sealing, until further order of the Court, all papers submitted in support of this application, including the application itself. I believe that sealing these documents is necessary to preserve the integrity ofthis ongoing criminal investigation. Based upon my training and experience, I have learned that criminals actively search online for criminal affidavits and arrest warrants via the Internet, and disseminate them to other criminals as they
	WHEREFORE, your deponent respectfully requests that the defendants KADERRAH DOYLE, CARA STEINBERG, MARINA GOLFO, EGO ONAGA, L YUBOV BELINA, DANIELLE SCOPINICH, ENOCK MENSAH and PATRICIA HAKIM be dealt with according to law. 
	MELISSA Gei-?IA Special Agen~deral Bureau ofInvestigation 
	Sworn to before me this 2...day of O<;teber, 2018 
	THE HONORABf:E VERA M. SCANLON UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE IDDGE EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
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